
City Council Meeting Agenda for Tuesday 06/07/2022 | Page 1 of 3 

  
 
 
 
 

REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING ~ 7:00PM  
AGENDA 

  
TUESDAY, JUNE 7, 2022 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Per current CDC guidelines face coverings are no longer required. 
 

     
NOTE: Executive Session may follow meeting to discuss legal, personnel and real estate matters.  

(Motion Required)  
  

1. Roll Call 
 

2. Pledge of Allegiance; 
 

3. Reading and Disposal of the Journal; 
 

4. Additions and Removals from the Agenda; Referrals to Committee; 
 

5. Comments from the Audience; 
 

6. Reports and Communications from the Mayor, and the taking of action thereon; 
 

7. Reports and Communications from the City Council, and the taking of action thereon; 
 

8. Reading and Disposition of Ordinances, Resolutions, Motions, and Consideration of agenda items: 
 

A. Motion to Accept the Bid from Ronyak Paving Inc. as the lowest and best bidder for the 2022 Street 
Improvement Program and entering into Contact with the same in an amount not to exceed $753,920.75  
 

B. Appointment of Council’s Citizen Representatives and City Council Members to Cuyahoga County 
Solid Waste District Materials Management Collection Evaluation Team 

 
C. Amended Ordinance 2022-25 Establishing A Charter Review Commission; Setting Qualifications for 

Members of Such Commission; and Setting Forth the Authority and Duties of Such Commission and 
Declaring an Emergency (on emergency) 

 
D. Resolution 2022-30 Adopting the Alternative 2023 Tax Budget 

 
E. Ordinance 2022-31 Amending Codified Ordinance Section 1060.02 Entitled “Notice to Owner or 

Occupant to Repair.” To Establish the Obligation of the City to Maintain Stormwater Features Installed 
by the City in The Right-of-Way (on first reading) 
 

LOCATION:   
City Meeting Room  

(former Wiley Middle School Library 
 next door to Board of Education) 

2181 Miramar Blvd. 
University Heights, Ohio 

 



City Council Meeting Agenda for Tuesday 06/07/2022 | Page 2 of 3 

F. Ordinance 2022-32 Enacting Codified Ordinance Chapter 812 Entitled “Peddlers and Solicitors” and 
Declaring an Emergency (on emergency) 
 

G. Ordinance 2022-33 Amending Codified Ordinance Chapter 1064 Entitled “Solid Waste Disposal” and 
Declaring an Emergency (on emergency) 

 
H. Ordinance 2022-34 Amending Codified Ordinance Chapter 1060 Entitled “Sidewalks, Driveways and 

Tree Lawns” and Declaring an Emergency 
 
I. Motion to Approve Purchase of Replacement Sewer Utility Van through the State of Ohio Cooperative 

Purchase Program from Valley Ford Truck Inc. in an amount not to exceed $38,694.00 
 
J. Motion to Approve Purchase of 1 Ton Dump Truck Replacement through the State of Ohio Cooperative 

Purchase Program from Valley Ford Truck Inc. in an amount not to exceed $86,547.00  
 
K. Motion to Authorize Seeking Bids for City Signage 

 
L. Motion to Enter Executive Session for the purpose of Discussing Legal Proceedings, Personnel and Real 

Estate Matters 
 

9. Reports and communications from the Directors of the Department of Finance, the Department of Law, the 
Department of Public Safety, the Department of Public Service, and other department heads as applicable, and 
the taking of action thereon; 
 

a) Finance    f) Housing and Community Development   
b) Law     g) City Engineer 
c) Public Safety (Police/Fire)  h) Communications / Civic Engagement 
d) Service     i) Economic Development 
e) Building 

  



City Council Meeting Agenda for Tuesday 06/07/2022 | Page 3 of 3 

10. Reports of standing committees and the taking of action thereon; 
 

 BUILDING/HOUSING      
 Chairperson Barbara Blankfeld    
    Committee: Chris Cooney, John Rach, Brian King (alt.) 

   
 COMMUNITY OUTREACH                  
 Chairperson Brian King   

   Committee: Michele Weiss, Barbara Blankfeld, Sheri Sax (alt.) 
  
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT  

 Chairperson John Rach 
   Committee: Michele Weiss, Barbara Blankfeld, Justin Gould (alt.) 
   
FINANCE   
Chairperson Michele Weiss 
   Committee: John Rach, Justin Gould, Barbara Blankfeld (alt.) 
  
RECREATION 
Chairperson Chris Cooney 

    Committee: Brian King, Sheri Sax, Michele Weiss (alt.) 
  
SAFETY   

 Chairperson Justin Gould    
      Committee: Brian King, Sheri Sax, Chris Cooney (alt.) 

  
 SERVICE AND UTILITIES      
 Chairperson Sheri Sax 

   Committee: Chris Cooney, Justin Gould, John Rach (alt.)  
  
 COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE  

  Vice Mayor Michele Weiss 
 

11. Reports of special committees, and the taking of action thereon; 
 

12. Unfinished and miscellaneous business; 
 

13. Adjournment 
  

  
  

  
 









 
AMENDED ORDINANCE NO. 2022-25 | Page 1 of 3 

 

AMENDED ORDINANCE NO. 2022-25 
 
Introduced by:  Vice Mayor Michele Weiss 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING A CHARTER REVIEW COMMISSION; 
SETTING QUALIFICATIONS FOR MEMBERS OF SUCH COMMISSION; 
AND SETTING FORTH THE AUTHORITY AND DUTIES OF SUCH 
COMMISSION AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Charter of the City of University Heights was originally adopted at a special 
election on June 3rd, 1941; and 
 
 WHEREAS, a review of the original Charter was conducted by a Charter Review 
Commission, which took office on January 1, 1979 and recommended certain amendments to the 
Charter which were approved by the electorate at the regular election held in the city of University 
Heights on November 6, 1979; and 
 
 WHEREAS, a subsequent review of the Charter was conducted in 2008-2009 and resulted in 
certain amendments being adopted after approval by the electorate;  
 
 WHEREAS, best practices and prudent government dictate periodic review of the City’s 
Charter; 
 
 WHEREAS, Council wishes to exercise its power under Article 7, Section 1 of the Charter 
and Article 8, Section 5 of the Charter to submit amendments to the electorate based upon such a 
thorough review by a broad-based independent body; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
UNIVERSITY HEIGHTS, OHIO, THAT: 
 
 Section 1.  There is hereby established in the City of University Heights a Charter Review 
Commission to take office on June 30, 2022, and to remain in office thereafter until the last date on 
which the Board of Elections of Cuyahoga County, Ohio will accept charter amendment questions 
for submission to the electorate at either a special or regular election, to be determined by a majority 
vote of Council, to be held in the City of University Heights during the calendar year 2023. 
 
 Section 2.  The Charter Review Commission shall consist of Eleven (11) members, each of 
whom shall be an elector in the City of University Heights and who shall be appointed as follows: 
 
 (a)  Each member of Council may appoint one (1) member to the Commission by submitting 
to the Clerk of Council after passage of this Ordinance but before June 30, 2022 at 7:00 PM, in 
writing, the name and address of the appointee, together with a written acceptance of appointment by 
such appointee.  Each appointee must be a qualified elector of the City of University Heights at the 
time of appointment. 
 
 (b)  The Mayor may appoint four (4) members to the Commission by submitting to the Clerk 
of Council after passage of this Ordinance but before June 30, 2022 at 7:00 PM, in writing, the name 
and address of the appointee, together with a written acceptance of appointment by such appointee.  
The appointee must be a qualified elector of the City of University Heights at the time of appointment. 
 
 (c)  In the event that any member of Council or the Mayor fails to exercise in timely fashion 
the power of appointment granted herein, the vacancies left on the Charter Review Commission shall 
be filled by appointment by a majority of the members of Council. 
 
 (d)  In the event that an appointed member of the Charter Review Commission fails to qualify 
or fails to complete his or her term of office, the Council member or mayor who appointed such 
person initially, as applicable, shall make a successor appointment within ten (10) days after being 
notified of the necessity to do so, and failure to make such appointment shall cause the vacancy to be 
filled by appointment by a majority of the members elected to council. 
 
 Section 3.  No member of the Charter Review Commission may hold any appointed position 
with, office with, or employment with, or be an elected official of the City of University Heights. 
 
 Section 4.  No member of the Charter Review Commission shall receive compensation for 
such service. 
 



 
AMENDED ORDINANCE NO. 2022-25 | Page 2 of 3 

 

 Section 5.  The Charter Review Commission shall meet in the space at the former Wiley 
Middle School being used as Council Chambers on the 30th day of June, 2022 and each member of 
the Commission shall take an oath or make an affirmation that such member shall uphold the 
Constitution and laws of the United States and the Constitution and statutes of the State of Ohio and 
fulfill their duties to the best of such person’s ability as a member of the Charter Review Commission 
of the City of University Heights.  The first order of business shall be the election by the Commission 
of a Chairman to preside at all meetings, a Vice-Chairman to serve in the Chairman’s place when the 
Chairman is absent, a Secretary to faithfully record the meeting minutes and actions of the 
Commission and such other officers as the members of the Commission deem desirable.  During its 
tenure, the Commission shall produce the following reports as further described in Section 8 hereof: 
(i) Progress Report, (ii) Interim Report with Recommendations for Amendments and (iii) Final Report 
and Recommendations. 
 
 Section 6.  The Commission shall establish a minimum of two days each month as the regular 
meeting days of the Commission and shall thereafter meet on such days commencing in June or July 
of 2022 until a Final report and Recommendations is submitted by the Commission to the City 
Council for submission to the electorate.  After submission of such Final Report and 
Recommendations, Council shall place the proposed amendments on its agenda for certification or 
rejection as more fully described in Section 9 hereof, and shall either cause a proposed amendment 
to be placed before the electorate at a general election to be held in 2023, or reject a proposed 
amendment for any of the following reasons: (i) a majority of members of Council disfavor the 
particular amendment, (ii) Council finds that the proposed amendment or amendments to the Charter 
would be unconstitutional, (iii) Council finds that the working of the proposed amendment or 
amendments is ambiguous, or (iv) it is determined by legal counsel that the amendment or 
amendments do not conform to the requirements of Ohio law.    The final report and recommendation 
of the Commission shall initially be submitted to the City Council by filing the same in writing with 
the Clerk not later than the close of business on March 31, 2023.  The commission by a two-thirds 
(2/3) vote of its membership may extend this date by sixty (60) days.  It is the intent of Council to 
consider the placement of all recommendations of the Commission on the ballot except for the reasons 
noted above. 
 
 Section 7.  A majority of the Commission shall constitute a quorum for the purpose of doing 
business, but a lesser number may continue a regular meeting from day to day.  The Commission 
shall establish its own rules for the calling of special meetings.  Any action taken by the Commission 
shall require the affirmative vote of at least six (6) members of the Commission. 
 
 Section 8.  All meetings of the Commission shall be open to the public and some portion of 
each meeting shall be set aside by the Commission for public comment.  Within 90 to 120 days of 
taking office, the Commission shall make available to Council and the public a Progress Report.  Prior 
to adopting a Final Report and Recommendation to Council, the Commission shall publish its Interim 
Report with Recommendations for Amendments and hold a public hearing thereon by giving at least 
seven (7) days’ notice thereof, during which period of notice the proposed Interim Report with 
Recommendations for Amendments shall be on file for inspection in the office of the Clerk.  
Following the public hearing on the Interim Report with Recommendations for Amendments, the 
Commission may revise the proposed Recommendations, and/or may hold additional public hearings 
on any proposed amendment.  Thereafter the Commission shall publish its Final Report and 
Recommendations.  For purposes of this ordinance, publication of Commission reports shall be made 
by submission of said reports to the Clerk of Council who shall distribute the same to the Mayor, 
members of Council and the Law Director, and shall promptly post the report on the City’s website. 
 
 Section 9.  Council shall consider the Final Report and Recommendations at its next regularly 
scheduled meeting that is not less than ten (10) days after submission and publication of the 
Commission’s Final Report and Recommendations.  Council shall consider each proposed 
amendment to the Charter, and shall vote to either (i) certify the proposed amendment to the ballot, 
in which case the proposed amendment shall be placed on the ballot at the next general election or 
(ii) reject the proposed amendment, in which case such rejected amendment shall not be placed on 
the ballot. 
 
 Section 10.  The Commission shall request of Council and Council shall provide a reasonable 
budget for legal advice, secretarial staff and necessary supplies and miscellaneous expense.  The 
Commission shall select the Law Director of the City of University Heights as its legal counsel, unless 
he declines to serve. 
 
 Section 11.  This ordinance is hereby determined to be an emergency necessary for the 
immediate preservation of the public peace, health and safety of the City of University Heights and 
for the further reason that Board of Election deadlines must be met.  It shall therefore become 



 
AMENDED ORDINANCE NO. 2022-25 | Page 3 of 3 

 

effective upon its passage by the affirmative vote of not less than five (5) members of Council and 
approval of the Mayor; otherwise, it shall become effective at the earliest time allowed by law. 
 
 
     CITY OF UNIVERSITY HEIGHTS, OHIO 
  
 
            
     MICHAEL DYLAN BRENNAN, MAYOR 
 
 
FIRST READING:_________________ 
 
PASSED:________________________   
    
ATTEST: 
 
      
KELLY M. THOMAS, CLERK OF COUNCIL 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
        
LUKE F. MCCONVILLE, LAW DIRECTOR 
 





RESOLUTION NO. 2022-30 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2022-30 
 
 
INTRODUCED BY:  Mayor Michael Dylan Brennan 
 
 

A RESOLUTION ADOPTING THE ALTERNATIVE 2023 TAX BUDGET 
 
  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
UNIVERSITY HEIGHTS, OHIO, THAT: 
 
 Section 1. The 2023 Tax Budget for the City of University Heights for the calendar 
year beginning January 1, 2023 in the form attached hereto and made a part hereof as 
Exhibit A, filed with the Council, be and hereby is adopted as the official tax budget of the 
City of University Heights for the calendar year commencing January 1, 2023. 
 
 Section 2. The Director of Finance is hereby authorized to certify a copy of said tax 
budget and forward a certified copy of this Resolution to the Auditor of Cuyahoga County. 
 
 Section 3. It is hereby found and determined that all formal actions of the Council 
concerning and relating to the passage of this Resolution were adopted in an open meeting 
of this Council, and that all deliberations of this Council and of any of its committees that 
resulted in such formal action, were in meetings open to the public, in compliance with all 
legal requirements. 
 
 Section 4.  This Resolution shall become effective after two (2) readings at the 
earliest time allowed by law. 
 
 
   

  
 CITY OF UNIVERSITY HEIGHTS 

 
 
      ________________________________ 
                       Michael Dylan Brennan, Mayor 
 
 
 
First Reading:   
 
 
Passed:           
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Kelly M. Thomas, Clerk of Council 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM:  
 
 
______________________________ 
Luke F. McConville, Law Director 



Resolution 2022-30 | Exhibit A















ORDINANCE NO. 2022-31 

 

INTRODUCED BY: COUNCILPERSON RACH 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CODIFIED ORDINANCE 

SECTION 1060.02 ENTITLED “NOTICE TO OWNER OR 

OCCUPANT TO REPAIR,” TO ESTABLISH THE OBLIGATION 

OF THE CITY TO MAINTAIN STORMWATER FEATURES 

INSTALLED BY THE CITY IN THE RIGHT-OF-WAY. 

  

 WHEREAS, from time to time the City may construct stormwater features such as 

bio-swales within the right-of-way in connection with roadway and other City projects; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Council wishes to establish the duty of the City to maintain and repair 

any such stormwater features specifically installed by the City in the right-of-way, including 

any such stormwater features installed on tree lawns; 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF UNIVERSITY HEIGHTS, OHIO THAT: 

  

Section 1. Council hereby amends Codified Ordinance Section 1060.02 entitled 

“Notice to Owner or Occupant to Repair” to read in its entirety as follows: 

 

1060.02 NOTICE TO OWNER OR OCCUPANT TO REPAIR 

 

(a) Whenever the Building Commissioner or assistant, and/or the Director of 

Housing and Community Development upon any such inspection as referred to in Section 

1060.01, shall determine that it is necessary to construct, grade, repair or replace any sidewalk, 

driveway apron or tree lawn within the City, he or she shall prepare a notice showing the 

location of the sidewalk, driveway apron or tree lawn area; the nature of the construction, 

grading, repairing or replacement necessary; and the materials to be used.  The Building 

Commissioner and/or the Director of Housing and Community Development shall serve such 

statement or notice either personally or by mail or certified mail to the owner, occupant or 

person in control of the property, or shall leave the same at such person’s usual place of 

business, or shall post the same in a conspicuous place on the real estate involved.  The notice 

may be served by publishing it once in a newspaper of general circulation within the City if it 

cannot be served in any of the other ways above mentioned.  This notice shall fix a time within 

which such construction, grading, repairs or replacement must be completed.  Such notice shall 

be delivered, mailed or posted in the same manner as provided in Section 1474.03 

 

(b) The City shall maintain, grade, repair or replace any bio-swale or other 

specialized stormwater feature constructed or installed by the City within the public right-of-

way, including on any tree lawn. 

 

Section 2. It is hereby found and determined that all formal actions of this Council 

concerning and relating to the passage of this ordinance were adopted in an open meeting of 

this Council, and that all deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted 

in such formal action, were in meetings open to the public, in compliance with all legal 

requirements.  

 

     CITY OF UNIVERSITY HEIGHTS, OHIO 

  

 

      

     MICHAEL DYLAN BRENNAN, MAYOR 

 

FIRST READING:_________________ 

 

PASSED:________________________   

   

ATTEST: 

      

KELLY M. THOMAS, CLERK OF COUNCIL 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

        

LUKE F. MCCONVILLE, LAW DIRECTOR 

 



ORDINANCE 2022-32 | Page 1 of 6 

ORDINANCE NO. 2022-32 
 
INTRODUCED BY: COUNCILPERSON JUSTIN GOULD 
 

AN ORDINANCE ENACTING CODIFIED ORDINANCE 
CHAPTER 812 ENTITLED “PEDDLERS AND SOLICITORS” 
AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY  

  
 WHEREAS, for the health safety and welfare of residents and those selling goods 
or services in the City, the City wishes to regulate in person solicitation or peddling;  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF UNIVERSITY HEIGHTS, OHIO THAT: 
  

Section 1. Council hereby enacts Codified Ordinance Chapter 812 entitled 
“Peddlers and Solicitors,” to read in its entirety to read as set forth in Exhibit A hereto, a 
copy of which is attached and which is incorporated herein by reference as if fully rewritten. 
A complete copy of Exhibit A is also on file with the Clerk of Council. 
  

Section 2. It is hereby found and determined that all formal actions of this 
Council concerning and relating to the passage of this ordinance were adopted in an open 
meeting of this Council, and that all deliberations of this Council and any of its committees 
that resulted in such formal action, were in meetings open to the public, in compliance with 
all legal requirements.  

 
Section 3. The Clerk of Council is hereby directed to provide a certified copy 

of this ordinance to the Northeast Ohio Public Energy Council (“NOPEC”).   
 
Section 4.  This Ordinance is hereby declared to be an emergency measure necessary 

for the immediate preservation of the public peace, health and safety of the City and for the 
further reason that this resolution is required to be immediately effective so that residents 
may take advantage of NOPEC’s Block the Knock Registry and thereby avoid certain 
nuisances; wherefore, this ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and immediately 
after its adoption and approval by the Mayor. 

 
 
     CITY OF UNIVERSITY HEIGHTS, OHIO 
  
 
            
     MICHAEL DYLAN BRENNAN, MAYOR 
 
 
FIRST READING:_________________ 
 
PASSED:________________________   
    
ATTEST: 
 
      
KELLY M. THOMAS, CLERK OF COUNCIL 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
        
LUKE F. MCCONVILLE, LAW DIRECTOR 
  



ORDINANCE 2022-32 | Page 2 of 6 

 
EXHIBIT A 

 
 

PEDDLERS/SOLICITORS 
 
 

CHAPTER 812 
PEDDLERS AND SOLICITORS 

Section 
 

812.01 Definitions 
812.02 Registration required 
812.03 Application for Permit/Registration requirements 
812.04 Issuance of Permit/duration 
812.05 Display of permit or registration/return 
812.06 Restrictions 
812.07 Trespassing in violation of posted signs 
812.08 Revocation of permit or registration 
812.09 Do Not Solicit Registry 
812.10 Miscellaneous 
812.99 Penalty 
 
 

§ 812.01  DEFINITIONS. 
 For the purpose of this chapter, the following definitions shall apply unless the 
context clearly indicates or requires a different meaning. 
 
 (a) “Peddling” means any person who travels door to door either by foot, automobile, 
truck or any other type of conveyance and calls upon private residences, including any 
house, apartment or other dwelling within the City, taking or attempting to take orders for 
profit for the sale of goods, wares, merchandise or personal property of any nature 
whatsoever for future delivery or for services to be furnished in the future. 
 
 (b) “Soliciting” means any person seeking to obtain funds for any cause whatsoever 
by traveling door to door either by foot, automobile, truck or any type of conveyance and 
calling upon private residences including any house, apartment, or any other dwelling within 
the City.  The solicitation by a minor on behalf of a youth organization,  local school district 
or private school fundraising drives and charitable begging shall not be included in this 
definition.  Soliciting also means a person seeking to engage in negotiations for the 
acquisition or divestiture of mineral rights and or negotiating lease agreements or other 
business arrangements for exploring for and/or developing minerals. 
 
 (c) “Canvassing” means any person who calls at a private residence without the 
invitation or previous consent of the owner(s) or occupant(s) of such premises for the 
purpose of any one or more of the following activities: 
 

(1) Seeking to obtain from the occupant of any residence an indication of 
such occupant’s belief in regard to any social, political, religious or 
similar matter; or 

(2) Seeking to influence the personal belief of the occupant of any residence 
in regard to any social, political, religious or similar matter; or 

(3) Taking a poll or census of any person, firm or corporation other than a 
governmental body or agency thereof. 

 
§ 812.02 REGISTRATION REQUIRED. 
 (a) No peddler or solicitor shall peddle or solicit within the City unless he or she 
is registered and the holder of a valid permit issued pursuant to this chapter. 
 
 (b) A separate permit or registration must be made for every peddler, solicitor, 
agent or employee peddling or soliciting within the City. 
 
 (c) No permit or registration shall be required for any canvassing or canvasser. 
 
§ 812.03  APPLICATION FOR PERMIT/REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS. 



ORDINANCE 2022-32 | Page 3 of 6 

 (a) Each applicant for a permit shall, not less than five nor more than fifteen 
days prior to the commencement of peddling or solicitation, furnish the Police Chief or his 
designee with the following information on forms provided by the City. 
 
  (1) Name, age and physical description of applicant. 
 
  (2) Complete permanent and local address of applicant. 
 
  (3) Name and address of the person, firm, corporation or association for 
whom the peddling or solicitation is presently being made and any other person, firm, 
corporation or association for whom the applicant has peddled or solicited during the past 
three years. 
 
  (4) A description of the nature of the business and the goods, services or 
wares to be sold or otherwise sufficient to identify the subject matter of the peddling or 
soliciting in which the applicant will engage. 
 
  (5) The names of all other municipalities in which the applicant has 
conducted peddling or soliciting activities during the past six months. 
 
  (6) Whether the applicant has complied with the requirements of R.C. 
Chapter 1716 pertaining to charitable solicitations if applicable. 
 
  (7) Whether the applicant has ever been denied a license or had a permit 
revoked, including the time and place of such denial or revocation. 
 
  (8) Whether the applicant has ever been convicted of a felony violation 
or a misdemeanor violation involving moral turpitude including the time and place of such 
conviction. 
 
  (9) The proposed dates and times of the peddling or solicitation and the 
routes to be followed in conducting the same. 
 
  (10) The make, model, year, color and license plate number of 
automobiles used by the applicant during the period of peddling or solicitation within the 
City, and the number of applicant’s driver’s license and State of issuance. 
 
  (11) Such application shall be accompanied by a fee in the amount of 
$90.00.  Any person, group of persons or organizations acting on behalf of a tax exempt 
organization as defined by Section 501 of the Internal Revenue Code shall be exempt from 
such application fee. 
 
 
 
 (b) Upon receipt of registration and application for permit, the Police Chief or 
designee shall immediately perform the following functions. 
 

(1) Conduct a local background check 
 

(2) Take fingerprints of the applicant. 
 

(3) Perform a background WebCheck through the State of Ohio.  The State 
of Ohio may take up to thirty (30) days to process the WebCheck before 
mailing results to the City. 

 
§ 812.04  ISSUANCE OF PERMIT; DURATION 
 Not more than five days after receipt of the WebCheck results from the State of Ohio 
as required in Section 812.03 hereof, the Police Chief or designee shall issue a permit or 
registration to the applicant unless the Police Chief or designee has determined: 
 (a) That the applicant has made a false, misleading or deceptive statement in 
providing the information required under Section 812.03. 
 
 (b) That the applicant had been convicted of a felony violation, or misdemeanor 
violation involving moral turpitude, during the past five years. 

 



ORDINANCE 2022-32 | Page 4 of 6 

 (c) That the applicant has had a permit revoked within the previous year for 
violations of soliciting regulations in the City or any other municipality in Cuyahoga County 
or any county adjacent county. 
 
 (d) That the WebCheck reveals any violation of the terms of this ordinance, 
including any false statement made on the registration or application, any felony conviction, 
any conviction for a misdemeanor involving moral turpitude, or any violation of the 
ordinances of another community made during peddling or soliciting activities. 
 
 Such permit shall be valid for a period of ninety (90) days.    No permit issued 
hereunder shall be assigned or transferred to any other person.   
 
§ 812.05  DISPLAY OF PERMIT OR REGISTRATION; RETURN 
 Each peddler or solicitor shall carry in plain view the permit or registration at all 
times when in the City for the purposes set forth in the permit or registration.  They shall 
provide to any resident or municipal officer and/or employee the permit or registration upon 
entering the property of the resident.  At the conclusion of the period of time for which the 
permit or registration was issued, the permit and/or registration shall be returned to the 
Police Chief or designee. 
 
§ 812.06  RESTRICTIONS 
 Every peddler or solicitor to whom a permit is issued under the terms of this chapter 
shall be governed by the following rules and regulations: 
 (a) All circulars, samples, or other matter shall be handed to an occupant of the 
property or left in a secure place of the premises. 
 
 (b) No person subject to the provisions of this chapter shall peddle or solicit 
except between the reasonable business hours of 10:00 AM and 7:00 PM, Monday through 
Friday.  In addition, no person shall peddle or solicit on any legal holiday. 
 
 (c) No peddleror solicitor shall enter or attempt to enter the house or apartment 
of any resident in the City without an expressed invitation from the occupant of the house 
or apartment. 
 
 (d) No person subject to the terms of this chapter shall make any false, 
fraudulent, misleading or deceptive statement during the course of that person’s peddling or 
soliciting activity within the City. 
 
 (e) No peddler or solicitor shall engage in or transact any type of business or 
solicitation other than that specified on the registration application. 
 
§ 812.07  TRESPASSING IN VIOLATION OF POSTED SIGNS. 
 No person, while engaged in any profit or nonprofit peddling or soliciting shall 
knock at the door or ring the bell of any home, apartment, apartment building or other 
dwelling unit in the City upon which is displayed at the entrance a notice which reads “No 
Peddlers or Solicitors Allowed,” or which otherwise clearly purports to prohibit peddlers or 
solicitors on the premises, unless such peddler or solicitor is, or has been invited upon the 
premises by the owner, lessee or occupant thereof. 
 
§ 812.08  REVOCATION OF PERMIT OR REGISTRATION 
 The Police Chief or designee, for any of the following reasons, may revoke a permit 
or registration under this chapter. 
 (a) It is subsequently determined that the applicant provided false, misleading 
or deceptive information in completing the application form set forth in Section 812.03. 
 
 (b) The applicant has been convicted of a felony violation or misdemeanor 
violation involving moral turpitude. 
 
 (c) The City’s background web-check of the applicant reveals any violation of 
the terms of this ordinance, including any false statement made on the registration or 
application, any felony conviction, any conviction for a misdemeanor involving moral 
turpitude, or any violation of the ordinances of another community made during peddling 
or soliciting activities. 
 
 (d) The applicant is found to be in violation of any provision of this chapter. 



ORDINANCE 2022-32 | Page 5 of 6 

 Written notice shall be given to the registrant in person or by certified mail 
immediately upon such revocation. 
 
§ 812.09  DO NOT KNOCK REGISTRY 

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Chapter, it shall be unlawful for any 
solicitor or peddler to enter any property or premises and knock at the door or ring the 
doorbell of any residence, house, apartment or other dwelling in the City that appears on the 
“Do Not Knock Registry” or upon which there is posted at the entrance a notice which reads 
“No Solicitors,” a “Do Not Knock” sticker or words of similar import, which clearly prohibit 
peddlers or solicitors on the premises, unless such peddler or solicitor has previously been 
invited upon the premises by the owner, lessee or an adult occupant thereof.   

 
(a) If requested by the City, and for as long as the Northeast Ohio Public Energy 

Council (“NOPEC”) shall agree to do so, NOPEC shall establish and maintain 
for the City a “Do Not Knock Registry” (“Registry”) and is authorized to contact 
individuals on the Registry to distribute “Do Not Knock” stickers to them and to 
update the Registry annually at no cost to the City or the individuals. 

 
(b) The decision of whether to place a residence, house, apartment or other dwelling 

on the “Do Not Knock Registry” shall be solely that of the lawful possessor and 
occupant thereof. 

 
(c) Any person in lawful possession and occupancy of any residence, house, 

apartment or other dwelling in the City may request NOPEC to place and 
maintain his or her residence, house, apartment or other dwelling on the “Do Not 
Knock Registry” by submitting a request on form(s) supplied by the City, or by 
submitting a request online to www.blocktheknock.com, which shall contain the 
following information: 

(i) The name and signature of the person completing the form(s), 
unless the submission is done electronically; 

(ii) The complete address of the residence, house, apartment or 
other dwelling to be placed on the Do Not Knock Registry; 

(i) A valid email address of the person completing the form(s); 
(ii) The date the form was completed; and 
(iii) A statement that “No Solicitors or Peddlers” shall call at this 

address or words of similar import. 
 
(d) A residence, house, apartment or other dwelling, after being lawfully placed on 

the “Do Not Knock Registry,” shall remain on said registry until the earliest of 
any of the following: 

(i) The City or NOPEC receives notice of removal pursuant to 
subsection (e) hereof; or 

(ii) The City or NOPEC receives formal notice that the person 
who submitted the form pursuant to subsection (c) hereof is 
not or is no longer a lawful possessor and occupant of the 
premises. 

 
(e) Any person in lawful possession and occupancy of any residence, house, 

apartment or other dwelling may request the City or NOPEC to remove his or 
her residence, house, apartment or other dwelling from the “Do Not Knock 
Registry” by submitting a “Notice of Removal” form(s) supplied by the Director 
of Public Safety, or by submitting a request online at www.blocktheknock.com 
which shall contain the following information: 

(i) The name and signature of the person completing the form; 
(ii) The complete address of the residence, house, apartment or 

other dwelling to be removed from the registry; 
(iii) The date the form was completed; and 
(i) A statement that the residence be removed from the “Do Not 

Knock Registry.” 
 
(f) A copy of the “Do Not Knock Registry” shall be made available for public 

inspection at all times during normal business hours at the office of the Chief of 
Police or designee of the City and shall be given to every person who applies for 
a permit pursuant to Codified Ordinance Section 812.02 or registers as a solicitor 
or peddler pursuant to that section. 

http://www.blocktheknock.com/
http://www.blocktheknock.com/


ORDINANCE 2022-32 | Page 6 of 6 

 
§ 812.10  MISCELLANEOUS. 
  

(a) No person shall directly or indirectly make or perpetrate any misstatement, 
deception or fraud in connection with any solicitation or peddling for any purpose in the 
City or in any application or report filed under this chapter. 
 
 (b) No person having entered into an agreement to conduct any peddling or 
solicitation on behalf of any person or organization shall fail to remit or pay to the party 
entitled thereto the proceeds of such peddling or solicitation in accordance with the terms 
of the agreement. 
 
 (c) The City may revoke at any time any permit or registration certificate issued 
under the provisions of this chapter for violation of any provision of this chapter or any 
violation of the Ohio Home Solicitation Sales Act, codified at R.C. Section 1245.21 et seq., 
or the Ohio Consumer Sales Practice Act, codified at R.C. Section 1345.01 et seq.   
 

(d) Any person who has applied for a permit or registered in accordance with 
this chapter and to whom the City has, after an investigation, denied a permit may appeal to 
Council.  Notice of such appeal shall be filed with the Clerk within five days after the denial 
by the City.  Such appeal shall be heard by Council at the next regular meeting and its 
decision shall be final. 
 
 § 812.99  PENALTIES. 
 Whoever violates any provision of this chapter shall be guilty of a misdemeanor of 
the second degree and shall be subject to the penalties set forth in Section 698.02 of the 
Codified Ordinances.   
 
 



ORDINANCE 2022-33 | Page 1 of 2 

ORDINANCE NO. 2022-33 
 
INTRODUCED BY: COUNCILPERSON BLANKFELD 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CODIFIED ORDINANCE 
CHAPTER 1064 ENTITLED “SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL” AND 
DECLARING AN EMERGENCY. 

  
 WHEREAS, the Building and Housing Committee has undertaken a project to update 
building code ordinances to reflect the existing structure of University Heights administrative 
departments; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City wishes to clarify the administrative responsibilities of 
department heads, to provide authority to the Director of Housing and Community 
Development and Building Commissioner as appropriate and to update penalty provisions for 
violations of the standards set forth therein; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF UNIVERSITY HEIGHTS, OHIO THAT: 
  

Section 1. Council hereby amends Codified Ordinance Chapter 1064 entitled “Solid 
Waste Disposal” to read in its entirety as set forth in Exhibit A hereto, which is incorporated 
herein by reference as if fully rewritten. 
 

Section 2. It is hereby found and determined that all formal actions of this Council 
concerning and relating to the passage of this ordinance were adopted in an open meeting of 
this Council, and that all deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in 
such formal action, were in meetings open to the public, in compliance with all legal 
requirements.  
 

Section 3.  This ordinance is hereby determined to be an emergency necessary for the 
immediate preservation of the public peace, health and safety of the City of University Heights 
and for the further reason that the Housing and Community Development Director be 
immediately provided with certain powers, duties and responsibilities in order to perform 
certain necessary functions.  It shall therefore become effective upon its passage by the 
affirmative vote of not less than five (5) members of Council and approval of the Mayor; 
otherwise, it shall become effective at the earliest time allowed by law. 

 
 
      CITY OF UNIVERSITY HEIGHTS, OHIO 
  
 
      
       MICHAEL DYLAN BRENNAN, MAYOR 
 
FIRST READING:_________________ 
 
PASSED:________________________   
    
ATTEST: 
 
      
KELLY M. THOMAS, CLERK OF COUNCIL 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
        
LUKE F. MCCONVILLE, LAW DIRECTOR 
 
 
  



ORDINANCE 2022-33 | Page 2 of 3 

 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

CHAPTER 1064 
Solid Waste Disposal 

 
1064.01  DIRECTOR'S AUTHORITY; MATERIAL COLLECTED. 
   The Service Director of the City (hereinafter referred to as "the Director"), shall have the sole 
authority and duty to collect and to dispose of, through the Department of Public Service and 
Properties of this City (hereinafter referred to as "the Department"), or through such other means 
as may from time to time be provided, all ashes, garbage, rubbish, refuse, waste paper, brush or 
leaves within the City, wherever found.  Building material, stone, or loose earth shall be 
removed by the owner of the property where the same is located at his or her own cost and 
expense.  Administrative and/or criminal violations of this Chapter may be issued by the Service 
Director, Building Commissioner, or Director of Housing. 
 
1064.02  WASTE MATERIAL FROM DWELLINGS. 
   (a)   The owner, agent, lessee or occupant of any dwelling or portion thereof, or any premises 
where ashes, garbage, rubbish, waste paper, brush, lawn clippings or leaves and other refuse are 
produced or permitted to accumulate shall provide such containers as may be required by this 
section and by the rules and regulations of the Service Director for each such material. Refuse 
containers shall be maintained in good condition and any container that does not conform to the 
provisions of this section or the regulations of the Service Director shall be promptly replaced 
upon notice. The Service Director shall have the authority to refuse collection services for 
failure to comply herewith. 
   (b)   Containers for rubbish and garbage shall be made of metal, sturdy plastic or rubber with 
a capacity of not less than ten gallons nor more than 32 gallons; shall be provided with handles 
and shall be covered with tight fitting covers. All rubbish and garbage shall be drained of liquid 
before being deposited in containers. Plastic bags with the same capacity, as aforesaid, properly 
tied, are also acceptable. 
   (c)   Tree trimmings, hedge clippings, brush and similar materials shall be cut to length not to 
exceed four feet and tied in bundles not more than two feet thick before being deposited for 
collection. 
   (d)   Lawn clippings, leaves, plant cuttings and similar materials shall be placed in such 
containers or otherwise prepared for collection as the Service Director shall authorize and 
approve. 
   (e)   Any unauthorized accumulation of refuse on any premises, or the failure to contain 
garbage and rubbish as provided by this section is hereby declared to be a nuisance and is 
prohibited. 
 
1064.03  ISSUANCE OF RULES AND REGULATIONS. 
   (a)   The Service Director is hereby authorized and empowered to establish and issue such 
rules and regulations, not inconsistent with the terms of this chapter, affecting and governing 
the collection and disposal of ashes, garbage, rubbish, refuse, waste paper, brush and leaves, as 
may be necessary and reasonable. Such rules and regulations shall be in addition to the terms 
and provisions of this chapter, and shall, among other things, provide for the date and time of 
collections; the location and placing of receptacles; the size or weight of receptacles, bags or 
bundles; the limitations upon salvage, and such other matters as pertain or relate to the efficient 
collection of waste materials by the Department. 
   (b)   The rules and regulations, when issued by the Service Director and published or posted 
in accordance with the requirements of ordinance, shall have the full force and effect of law 
and violation thereof shall be deemed and held to be a violation of this chapter. 
 
1064.04  REFUSAL TO COLLECT UNDER CERTAIN CIRCUMSTANCES. 
   The Department of Public Service and Properties is hereby authorized to refuse to collect 
wastepaper in the wastepaper collection which is contaminated with garbage or mixed with 
metal or glass, or to collect garbage containing metal or glass. 
 
1064.05  STORAGE BEHIND FRONT BUILDING LINE. 



ORDINANCE 2022-33 | Page 3 of 4 

   Except after sunset on the day before the regularly scheduled garbage and rubbish collection 
for the premises involved, and the actual time of collection, no person shall deposit, store, cause 
or allow to be stored on premises under his or her ownership or control, any ashes, garbage, 
refuse, rubbish or waste paper, unless such deposit or storage takes place behind the front 
building line of the premises. 
 
1064.06  WASTE MATERIAL PRODUCED OFF PREMISES. 
   No person shall deposit, store, cause or allow to be stored on any property within the City for 
which the City provides garbage and rubbish collection, any ashes, garbage, rubbish, refuse, 
waste paper, brush, leaves or other waste material not produced by and on the property where 
such deposit or storage takes place. 
 
1064.07  SPECIAL COLLECTIONS. 
   (a)   Pursuant to the authority granted to him or her in Section 1064.03, the Service Director 
may, when he or she determines it to be reasonably feasible to do so, authorize the collection of 
refuse materials from dwellings within the City which do not otherwise qualify for collection 
pursuant to the terms of this chapter or the regulations specified thereunder, but the Service 
Director shall not be authorized to cause such collection to be made unless the following 
provisions are met: 
      (1)   The person requesting such collection shall make application therefor on forms to be 
provided by the Service Director not less than twenty-four hours before the requested time of 
collection; 
      (2)   A fee of $10.00, payable in cash or check only, shall be paid with each application; 
      (3)   Requests may also be filed in person during normal business hours, 8:00 a.m. to 4:30 
p.m., Monday through Friday at the Division of Building Engineering and Inspection, or may 
be mailed to same. In the case of mailing, the request shall be deemed effective upon receipt. 
   (b)   The request for special collection may be denied if the person making such request has 
been previously notified of (and failed to abate) nuisance conditions as defined under Chapter 
1460 within the property which is the subject of the request. 
   (c)   Nothing in this section shall be deemed to prohibit the Service Director from refusing to 
make such collection within the discretion granted to him or her by this chapter or from 
imposing such additional restrictions as he or she deems necessary under the circumstances. 
 
1064.08 DEFINITIONS. 
   As used in this chapter: 
   (a)   "Blight conditions" means any two or more circumstances or conditions defined 
in Chapter 1442 and Chapter 1460 or otherwise in combination with debris that is strewn 
around or floating or being blown about or in combination with any known violation of state or 
federal environmental protection agency regulations, and which circumstances are not corrected 
or abated in accordance with due notice thereof by the Building Commissioner and/or the 
Director of Housing and Community Development posted upon the premises or served in person 
or via express mail (public or private) either to the owner thereof or to the occupant therein. 
   (b)   "Nuisance" as used herein means any condition defined in Chapter 1442 or Chapter 
1460 of the Building Code which commonly contributes to or causes "blight conditions". 
   (c)   "Waste, waste materials, debris and refuse" includes all materials or products or portions 
thereof no longer needed or wanted or required including, but not limited to: ashes, debris, 
garbage, refuse, rubbish, paper, plastic, metals, burnable and nonburnable trash and all other 
unneeded goods or materials which is in the possession of or under the control of any person or 
entity solely until disposition can be made to a dump or waste disposal facility. 
 
1064.09  INDOOR WASTE STORAGE. 
   Indoor storage of waste materials and refuse shall be in full conformity with the requirements 
of the Ohio Building Code, Residential Code of Ohio, and/or any maintenance code adopted by 
these Codified Ordinances herein, including, but not limited to, requirements for fire protection, 
and more specifically requiring fire sprinklers for areas over 24 square feet. 
 
1064.10  OUTDOOR WASTE STORAGE. 
   (a)   No waste materials or refuse may be accumulated and/or stored outside any structure or 
in the outdoors in a U-4, U-6, U-7 or U-8 district, and the same is hereby declared a nuisance 
except when abated by screening constructed or installed in conformity with a permit issued by 
the Division of Building Engineering and Inspection for the construction of a masonry or 
wooden "structure", as defined in Section 1240.06(c) of the Planning and Zoning Code, all for 

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/universityhts/latest/unhoh_oh/0-0-0-45608#JD_1064.03
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/universityhts/latest/unhoh_oh/0-0-0-48487#JD_Chapter1442
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/universityhts/latest/unhoh_oh/0-0-0-48831#JD_Chapter1460
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/universityhts/latest/unhoh_oh/0-0-0-48487#JD_Chapter1442
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/universityhts/latest/unhoh_oh/0-0-0-48831#JD_Chapter1460
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/universityhts/latest/unhoh_oh/0-0-0-48831#JD_Chapter1460
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/universityhts/latest/unhoh_oh/0-0-0-45999#JD_1240.06


ORDINANCE 2022-33 | Page 4 of 5 

the purpose of shielding or screening of waste materials and refuse deposited in waste or refuse 
containers or dumpsters or trash compactors, all of which is hereinafter referred to collectively 
as "screening". 
   (b)   (1)   Such permit applications shall be filed, with plans or sketches, in multiple copies 
with the Division for review by the Building Commissioner as permitted by Chapter 242, by 
the City Architect as provided in Chapter 246, and by the Chiefs of Police and Fire for safety 
considerations. 
      (2)   Such review shall be to approve location, size and overall design and waste shielding 
effectiveness and suitability considering the provisions of this chapter and such other factors as 
may be relevant to the expressed purposes of this chapter. 
      (3)   In the event that there is more than one and less than six abutting or contiguous 
commercial property users, the owners or operators may jointly apply for approval to join in 
screening or enclosing and thereafter jointly managing waste and refuse, provided, however, 
that the construction and design shall be uniformly of the same type and architectural 
appearance. 
   (c)   Such permit application shall reflect the composition of and the proposed location of the 
screening on the lot and proposed rear and side yards; traffic patterns for pedestrians and 
garbage pick-up trucks; motor vehicles and parking; size and layout; height; cubic footage; and 
materials. 
   (d)   The rejection of any application for a permit under this chapter may be appealed to the 
Board of Zoning Appeals under procedures otherwise provided in these Codified Ordinances, 
subject to the standards in Section 1064.11. 
 
1064.11  STANDARDS FOR SCREENING. 
   (a)   Location. 
      (1)   Exterior screening shall not be erected closer than twenty feet from any residence or 
secondary or appurtenant structure that is located in a U-1, U-2 or U-4 District. 
      (2)   Exterior screening shall not be located so as to inhibit or impair vehicular or pedestrian 
movement generally in, upon or about the premises. 
   (b)   Height and Size of Screening. Height and size shall be no higher than six feet above 
adjacent grade, nor any higher than is necessary to fully conceal any containers or compaction 
unit sheltered within the screening. 
   (c)   Overall Design and Waste Shielding Effectiveness and Suitability of Screening. Such 
screening shall: 
      (1)   Be constructed or installed to allow ventilation to prevent the accumulation of odors. 
      (2)   Be sealed to inhibit rats and other vermin from crawling around or rummaging through 
such refuse and waste. 
      (3)   Be large enough to permit washing, sweeping out and cleaning, for a distance of at least 
eight inches above grade. 
      (4)   Be equipped with gates, doors or other substantially equivalent closure of sufficient 
size to allow removal and replacement of any container or containers stored within such 
enclosure. 
 
1064.12  MAINTENANCE REQUIREMENTS. 
   (a)   The screening of all interior screened areas shall be washed and swept regularly and shall 
remain clean at all times. 
   (b)   All areas in and about the screening and all compactors and all rubbish containers shall 
be managed and maintained in a clean and sanitary manner so as not to be overfilled or 
overflowing and so as to inhibit and prevent such materials from spilling over or blowing or 
drifting about outside of such containers. 
 
1064.99  PENALTY; ABATEMENT OF NUISANCES. 
   (a)   Whoever violates any provision of this chapter in addition to any other action by the City, 
may be declared by the Building Commissioner and/or the Director of Housing and Community 
Development to have committed a nuisance in accordance with the procedures provided in 
Section 1442.01(d) of the Building and Housing Code and such nuisances may be abated as 
permitted under Sections 1460.08, 1064.11 and 1064.12 and the Law Director may seek the 
injunction thereof. 
   (b)   Whoever violates Section 1064.10 of this chapter without abatement by filing a permit 
application as provided for in Section 1064.10(b) in this chapter, within ten (10) days after due 
notice from the Building Commissioner, shall be guilty shall be guilty of a misdemeanor of the 
first degree for each and every subsequent offense and shall be fined not more than one thousand 

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/universityhts/latest/unhoh_oh/0-0-0-34799#JD_Chapter242
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/universityhts/latest/unhoh_oh/0-0-0-34886#JD_Chapter246
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/universityhts/latest/unhoh_oh/0-0-0-45645#JD_1064.11
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/universityhts/latest/unhoh_oh/0-0-0-48495#JD_1442.01
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/universityhts/latest/unhoh_oh/0-0-0-48878#JD_1460.08
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/universityhts/latest/unhoh_oh/0-0-0-45645#JD_1064.11
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/universityhts/latest/unhoh_oh/0-0-0-45656#JD_1064.12


ORDINANCE 2022-33 | Page 5 of 5 

dollars ($1,000.00) or imprisoned not more than six months, or both.  .  A separate offense shall 
be deemed committed each day during or on which a violation occurs or continues. 
 
(c) Whoever violates any other provision of this Chapter shall be guilty of a misdemeanor of 
the first degree for each and every offense and shall be fined not more than one thousand dollars 
($1,000.00) or imprisoned not more than six months, or both.  A separate offense shall be 
deemed committed each day during or on which a violation occurs or continues. 

 
 

 



ORDINANCE 2022-34 | Page 1 of 2 

ORDINANCE NO. 2022-34 
 
INTRODUCED BY: COUNCILPERSON BLANKFELD 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CODIFIED ORDINANCE 
CHAPTER 1060 ENTITLED “SIDEWALKS, DRIVEWAYS AND 
TREE LAWNS” AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY. 

  
 WHEREAS, the Building and Housing Committee has undertaken a project to update 
building code ordinances to reflect the existing structure of University Heights administrative 
departments; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City wishes to formally empower the City Housing and Community 
Development Director with certain powers, duties and responsibilities; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF UNIVERSITY HEIGHTS, OHIO THAT: 
  

Section 1. Council hereby amends Codified Ordinance Chapter 1060 entitled 
“Sidewalks, Driveways and Tree Lawns” to read in its entirety as set forth in Exhibit A hereto, 
which is incorporated herein by reference as if fully rewritten. 
 

Section 2. It is hereby found and determined that all formal actions of this Council 
concerning and relating to the passage of this ordinance were adopted in an open meeting of 
this Council, and that all deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted 
in such formal action, were in meetings open to the public, in compliance with all legal 
requirements.  
 

Section 3.  This ordinance is hereby determined to be an emergency necessary for the 
immediate preservation of the public peace, health and safety of the City of University Heights 
and for the further reason that the Housing and Community Development Director be 
immediately provided with certain powers, duties and responsibilities in order to perform 
certain necessary functions.  It shall therefore become effective upon its passage by the 
affirmative vote of not less than five (5) members of Council and approval of the Mayor; 
otherwise, it shall become effective at the earliest time allowed by law. 

 
 
      CITY OF UNIVERSITY HEIGHTS, OHIO 
  
 
      
       MICHAEL DYLAN BRENNAN, MAYOR 
 
FIRST READING:_________________ 
 
PASSED:________________________   
    
ATTEST: 
 
      
KELLY M. THOMAS, CLERK OF COUNCIL 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
        
LUKE F. MCCONVILLE, LAW DIRECTOR 
 
 
 
 



ORDINANCE 2022-34 | Page 2 of 3 

EXHIBIT A 

 
CHAPTER 1060 

SIDEWALKS, DRIVEWAYS AND TREE LAWNS. 
 
1060.01 INSPECTION BY BUILDING COMMISSIONER AND/OR THE DIRECTOR 
OF HOUSING AND COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT. 
   The Building Commissioner and/or the Director of Housing and Community Development, 
from time to time, shall inspect the sidewalks, driveway aprons and tree lawn areas within the 
City to determine whether it is necessary to construct, grade, repair or replace such sidewalks, 
driveway aprons or tree lawn areas. 
 
1060.02  NOTICE TO OWNER OR OCCUPANT TO REPAIR. 
   Whenever the Building Commissioner or assistant and/or the Director of Housing and 
Community Development, upon any such inspection as referred to in Section 1060.01, shall 
determine that it is necessary to construct, grade, repair or replace any sidewalk, driveway 
apron or tree lawn within the City, he or she shall prepare a notice showing the location of the 
sidewalk, driveway apron or tree lawn area; the nature of the construction, grading, repairing 
or replacement necessary; and the materials to be used. The Building Commissioner and/or the 
Director of Housing and Community Development shall serve such statement or notice either 
personally or by mail or certified mail to the owner, occupant or person in control of the 
property, or shall leave the same at such person's usual place of business, or shall post the same 
in a conspicuous place on the real estate involved. The notice may be served by publishing it 
once in a newspaper of general circulation within the City if it cannot be served in any of the 
other ways above mentioned. This notice shall fix a time within which such construction, 
grading, repairs or replacement must be completed.  Such notice shall be delivered, mailed or 
posted in the same manner as provided in Section 1474.03. 
 
1060.03  REPAIR BY OWNER OR OCCUPANT. 
   If the construction, grading, repairs or replacement is performed by the owner or his or her 
agent, the owner or agent must first obtain a permit and pay any fees established by ordinance 
of Council. The work shall be performed under the supervision and to the satisfaction of the 
Building Commissioner and/or the Director of Housing and Community Development. 
 
1060.04  MAINTENANCE OF EXTERIOR PROPERTY AREAS. 
   (a)   No owner, agent or occupant of any premises shall maintain or permit to be maintained 
at or on the exterior property areas of such premises any condition which deteriorates or 
debases the appearance of the neighborhood; reduces property values in the neighborhood; 
creates fire, safety or health hazard; or which is a public nuisance; including but not limited to 
the following: 
      (1)   Broken or dilapidated fences, walls or other structures. 
      (2)   Improperly installed or maintained public sidewalks, walks, driveways and driveway 
aprons which are in a defective condition in any of the following listed particulars: 
         A.   Any concrete block or stone having multiple cracks or any single crack larger than 
one-half inch in width extending for a linear distance of one foot. 
         B.   Adjoining sections of concrete block or stone or portions thereof, whose edges differ 
vertically by three-fourths of an inch or more, extending for a linear distance of one foot or 
more. 
         C.   Concrete blocks or stone having a transverse slope in excess of three-fourths inch 
per horizontal foot toward the street. 
         D.   Concrete blocks or stone having a reverse slope or slope toward property that 
impound water to a depth of one inch or more. 
         E.   Concrete blocks or stone having depressions that impound water to a depth of one 
inch or more. 
         F.   Concrete blocks or stone having disintegrated or deteriorated areas. Provided further 
that every public sidewalk shall be concrete or stone. 
 
   (b)   The owners of the premises shall have 60 days after notice of a violation of division (a) 
hereof, to complete the specified repairs, replacement or relevelling. Failure on the part of the 
owner to complete and perform the work within the specified time, or any reasonable extension 

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/universityhts/latest/unhoh_oh/0-0-0-45451#JD_1060.01
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/universityhts/latest/unhoh_oh/0-0-0-49660#JD_1474.03


ORDINANCE 2022-34 | Page 3 of 4 

thereof duly granted by the City, shall subject the owner to a citation for violating these 
provisions and subject the owner to the penalties set forth in Section 1060.99. 
 
   (c)   Any owner who believes that the requirements of the notice provided requires 
unreasonable work or is contrary to the Codified Ordinances of the City, shall be entitled to 
submit an administrative appeal to the Building Commissioner and/or the Director of Housing 
and Community Development within fifteen (15) days of delivery of the notice to the owner 
of the premises, and the decision of the Building Commissioner and/or the Director of Housing 
and Community Development as to any adjustment whatsoever shall be made within fifteen 
(15) days thereafter and shall be final. 
 
1060.05  DRIVEWAY PERMITS. 
   (a)   All private driveways shall be laid, and shall be repaired, under the supervision and 
subject to the approval of the Building Commissioner and/or the Director of Housing and 
Community Development of the City. No driveway shall be constructed or repaired until a 
permit therefor has been issued by the Commissioner, who shall issue such permit upon 
application therefor without cost, provided that no such permit shall be required when 
construction work is done by the City. 
   (b)   No work shall be done under such permit unless the Building Commissioner and/or the 
Director of Housing and Community Development shall have been given at least twenty-four 
hours notice of the time of performing such work. The City Engineer is hereby directed to 
provide for the inspection of such work during its performance to ensure that the work shall be 
carried on and completed in accordance with the specifications and requirements of this 
chapter. 
   (c)   All existing private driveways within the City shall be subject to the provisions of this 
chapter.  
 
1060.06  DRIVEWAY SPECIFICATIONS. 
   (a)   All private driveways intersecting sidewalks in the City shall be constructed on a level 
with the surface grade of the sidewalks so intersected unless a different method of construction 
shall be recommended by the City Engineer. 
   (b)   All private driveways when hard-surfaced shall be constructed and maintained either 
with monolithic (one coat) concrete to the minimum thickness of four inches with wire mesh, 
or six inches without wire mesh, mixed and cast according to the specifications set forth in 
Section 1060.07, or shall be constructed and maintained with asphalt, asphaltic material, or 
asphaltic or bituminum compound, mixed and laid according to specifications set forth in 
Section 1060.08 provided, however, that no asphalt, asphaltic material or asphaltic or 
bituminum compound shall be used for the construction or maintenance of any public sidewalk 
or portions thereof. 
   (c)   All private driveways within the limit of any public highway, that is, that portion of the 
driveway commonly known as the apron, between the inside of the sidewalk and the curb, shall 
be constructed of concrete as specified in Section 1060.07 and shall terminate at the curb line, 
so flared on each side as to form a turn-out of not less than four feet radius. The radius of the 
turn-out shall be increased in the instance of narrow or heavily traveled streets as may be 
indicated by the prevailing conditions and as determined and approved by the City Engineer. 
   (d)   The sidewalk portion of the driveway except where it is impractical because of existing 
construction, shall be pitched toward the curb at the rate of one-half inch to the foot. The 
elevation of such sidewalk portion of the driveway except where existing construction 
prohibits, shall be sufficiently higher than the curb to permit the tree lawn to be sloped not less 
than three-quarters of an inch to the foot. 
 
1060.07  SPECIFICATIONS FOR CONCRETE WORK. 
   (a)   Residential and Nonresidential Specifications.  All concrete work, whether original 
installation or repair work, shall be applicable to the construction of any residential driveway 
and driveway apron, whether or not such is intended for public or private use, for driveways 
within the limits of any public highway and for all public sidewalks in the City, and shall meet 
and be governed by the specifications set forth herein. 
      (1)   Any and all concrete used for any purposes shall: 
         A.   Contain a cement content of six bag mix at 94 pounds per bag, of Portland cement. 
         B.   Have an air entrainment of 6% to 8% at the time of pour. 

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/universityhts/latest/unhoh_oh/0-0-0-45575#JD_1060.99
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/universityhts/latest/unhoh_oh/0-0-0-45485#JD_1060.07
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/universityhts/latest/unhoh_oh/0-0-0-45548#JD_1060.08
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/universityhts/latest/unhoh_oh/0-0-0-45485#JD_1060.07


ORDINANCE 2022-34 | Page 4 of 5 

         C.   Consist of sound coarse aggregate one inch or smaller required, and shall meet with 
all Ohio Department of Transportation Construction and Material Specifications publication 
in accordance with Section 703.02. 
         D.   The sand used in concrete work shall be clean, sharp lake or bank sand, containing 
less than 6% of loam or other foreign substances and shall be entirely free from clay, shale or 
vegetation. All sand used shall be uniformly graded from that which will pass a No. 4 sieve to 
a No. 100 sieve, and at least one-third of the material shall be retained upon a No. 30 sieve. 
Materials shall meet with all current Ohio Department of Transportation Construction and 
Material Specifications publications then in effect. 
         E.   Contain no more water than will permit a slump between a minimum of four inches 
and a maximum of six inches. 
         F.   Have a uniform thickness of four inches with mesh or six inches without mesh in the 
private driveway and six inches with mesh or eight inches without mesh in the driveway apron, 
and that portion of the public sidewalk crossed by such driveway, and four and one-half inches 
in the public sidewalk. 
      (2)   Curing; mixing; finishing. 
         A.   Curing compound must be applied immediately after broom finishing without 
damaging the surface according to manufacturer's recommendations. 
         B.   Calcium or other admixtures shall not be added at the job site. 
         C.   Minimum floating and finishing required. A broom finish shall be required. Finishing 
must be delayed until water sheen (bleed water) has disappeared from the surface. 
      (3)   Base. 
         A.   Base must be smooth and consist of undisturbed or compacted earth. A stone, gravel, 
limestone screenings or nonsettling material approved by the Building Commissioner may be 
used as a leveling course. Excavations or trenches under a drive must be compacted or filled 
with a nonsettling material. The use of cinders is prohibited. 
         B.   Subgrade or base shall be dampened if dry before pouring. 
      (4)   Joints. 
         A.   Control joints, whether hand-tooled or sawn, shall be to a depth of one-fourth the 
thickness of the slab. The dimension of any control joint panel shall not exceed ten feet. 
         B.   Isolation joints shall be required where concrete abuts any structure, including but 
not limited to, foundations, garage floors, stoops and paved streets. 
      (5)   Time of Pour. 
         A.   Where the temperature in the surrounding area is below 70ºF., the maximum 
allowable time from loading to pour shall be one and one-half hours. 
         B.   Where the temperature in the surrounding area is above 70ºF., the maximum 
allowable time from loading to pour shall be one hour. 
         C.   No concrete shall be poured between November 15 and April 30, without applying a 
six inch cover or an approved blanket cover. 
      (6)   Nonresidential Concrete Drive: Plant and Contractor's Report. 
         A.   In any construction within the application of this chapter all suppliers shall, at the 
time of loading for delivery to a user, complete a form entitled "Nonresidential Concrete Drive: 
Plant and Contractor's Report, Part I" which shall state: 
            1.   Delivery destination; 
            2.   Size of load; 
            3.   Concrete mix; 
            4.   Air entrainment; 
            5.   Amount of water added at plant; 
            6.   Admixture added; 
            7.   Amount of calcium chloride added; 
            8.   Time of truck loading. 
         B.   In any construction within the application of this chapter the contractor or his agent 
shall complete a form entitled "Residential/Nonresidential Concrete Drive: Plant and 
Contractor's Report, Part II" which shall state: 
            1.   Address or sublot number of pour location; 
            2.   Time of arrival; 
            3.   Time of pour; 
            4.   Name of builder or user; 
            5.   Name of cement contractor or user; 
            6.   Amount of water added at the job site; 
            7.   Area temperature at time of pour; 
            8.   Curing compound used and type. 



ORDINANCE 2022-34 | Page 5 of 6 

         C.   An original and two copies of the Report shall be signed by the individuals 
completing the report. The above persons, by affixing their signatures to this report, warrant 
that the statements contained therein are true, under penalty of law. The original shall be sent 
to the Building Commissioner, a copy sent to the builder and a copy retained by the supplier. 
   (b)   Specific Requirements. 
      (1)   All concrete used shall be subject to a strength test, if ordered by the Building 
Commissioner, such test to be made by a reputable laboratory selected by the Commissioner. 
If such test is required, three test cylinders, six inches in diameter and twelve inches high, shall 
be made as described in "Standard Method of Making and Storing Compression Test 
Specimens of Concrete in the Field", A.S.T.M. Designation C 31-33 for testing in accordance 
with "Standard Methods of Making Compression Tests of Concrete", A.S.T.M. Designation C 
39-33; three such cylinders shall be used to adequately perform the required seven-day test, 
and three cylinders to adequately perform the 28-day test. The resulting compression strength 
must not be less than 2,500 pounds per square inch in seven days and not less than 4,000 
pounds per square inch in 28 days. Strength tests may be utilized for the purpose of checking 
on quality of materials used and method of mixing. If any tests fall below the standard of 
specifications set forth herein, the Building Commissioner may, at his or her discretion, order 
the contractor to discontinue the use of any cement, sand or stone being used in the concrete, 
and to supply other grades of materials which will produce the standard strength as specified 
above. The costs of all such tests shall be at the expense of the contractor. 
      (2)   Excavation of subgrade shall be made to the depth necessary to permit the required 
thickness of ballast and thickness of concrete for the specified installation. The contractor shall 
remove all spongy material, roots, shale, loam and earth, and all material excavated shall be 
removed from the premises by the contractor. Any fill necessary to level shall meet the 
specifications of this chapter and shall be compacted uniformly as may be approved by the 
Building Commissioner or his or her inspector. 
      (3)   No broken concrete may be used as a part of the bed unless the excavation is carried 
deep enough to permit the use of such broken material below the required thickness of finished 
concrete, as required by this chapter. Ballast under concrete sidewalk shall have a thickness or 
depth after rolling of three inches, under residential driveway aprons and that portion of the 
public sidewalk crossed by such driveways of four inches, and under commercial driveways 
and that portion of the public sidewalk crossed by such driveways of six inches. 
      (4)   Concrete shall be thoroughly mixed before being deposited in clean, steel forms 
adequately braced to prevent distortion from the specified dimensions. Steel forms shall be 
used on all straight sections of sidewalk. Wood forms shall not be used except for single 
sections of five feet or less, for special curved sections or for such special work as may require 
wood forms and permission therefor is given by the Building Commissioner. All forms used, 
whether steel or wood, shall not be permitted to become warped or twisted, shall be subject to 
the approval of the Building  Commissioner or his or her inspector, and shall be of a size 
sufficient to produce an installation of the required thickness. All forms shall be kept clean and 
free from defects and shall be coated with a suitable oil before filling with concrete. 
      (5)   Foundation beds shall be sprinkled immediately prior to the pouring of the concrete, 
which when mixed shall be rapidly deposited in the forms; any concrete not in final position 
within 30 minutes after completion of the mixing must be discarded. Under no circumstances 
may concrete that has partially set be used, and the remixing of such materials is specifically 
prohibited. Concrete shall be deposited between bulkheads to a uniform thickness and to the 
full depth and width of the form; any irregular or sloping surfaces shall be avoided. Concrete 
after being placed or poured shall be thoroughly tamped and consolidated so that none of the 
limestone appears on the surface, and it shall be thoroughly compacted and brought to the 
proper pitch and grade with a templet or straight edge. 
      (6)   Immediately prior to finishing the surface, the concrete shall be cut into slabs not 
longer than ten feet on any one side. Control joints, whether hand-tooled or sawn, shall be to a 
depth of one-fourth the thickness of the slab. Approved expansion joints shall be used on each 
side of the driveway where it passes through the public sidewalk. 
      (7)   Finishing of the work shall immediately follow the placing and compacting of the 
concrete after the water sheen has disappeared from the surface. The least amount of finishing 
should be done; water shall not be added to the surface. All surfaces shall be free from 
depressions or inequalities. The application of dry cement to hasten drying of the surface is 
specifically prohibited. 
      (8)   In rainy weather, concrete shall be protected as soon as it is finished, and in hot or dry 
weather, the concrete shall be properly cured with an approved curing compound, as per 



ORDINANCE 2022-34 | Page 6 of 7 

manufacturer's specifications. No concrete shall be poured between November 15 and April 
30 without applying a six-inch straw cover or an approved blanket cover. 
      (9)   Prepared strips of bitumen and fiber or mineral aggregate shall be placed in concrete 
installations at intervals of at least 40 feet, and shall also be placed at all points where the work 
abuts curbing or a lateral sidewalk, and along the line of a building where the work is laid full 
width from the curb to a building or other structures. Similar joints shall be placed around all 
water meter covers, gas boxes, hydrants, lamp tankards or other fixed objects projecting 
through the installation. All such strips shall be one fourth of an inch in thickness, except for 
transverse joints when the temperature is below  70ºF., in which event the strips shall be one-
half of an inch in thickness. The top of the strip shall be cut off flush with the top of the 
concrete. 
      (10)   While the above specifications are based on the use of "ready mix" concrete, it will 
be permissible to mix the concrete at the site of installation, provided an inspector is present 
and further provided the concrete is mixed in a mechanical batch-type mixer operated for two 
minutes at the rate of 12 to 18 revolutions per minute. Mixing by hand in a box or on a platform 
is prohibited. Not more than five gallons of water shall be used per sack of cement and all 
quantities of sand and aggregate shall be measured before placing in the mixer. Proportions 
shall be governed by the specifications set forth in this chapter. 
      (11)   Concrete installations regulated by the requirements of this chapter shall have the 
following thickness or depth when used for the following purposes: 
         A.   Public sidewalks, except that portion crossed by a driveway, shall have a thickness 
of four and one-half inches, with a sand ballast of three inches; 
         B.   That portion of private residential driveways within the limits of any public highway 
(commonly called driveway aprons), and including that portion of the public sidewalk crossed 
by such driveways, and a private driveway not within the limits of a public highway, shall have 
a thickness of six inches with a sand ballast of four inches; and 
         C.   Private commercial driveways within the limits of any public highway, and including 
that portion of the public sidewalk crossed by such driveways, shall have a thickness of eight 
inches or as may be required by the Engineer, with a sand ballast of six inches. Sand ballast 
shall be thoroughly tamped. The foregoing specifications are the minimum requirements, and 
any installation which fails to meet such specifications will be considered as faulty and will be 
condemned and required to be replaced. Determination of such measurements shall be made 
after the sand ballast has been thoroughly compressed or compacted in place. 
      (12)   The contractor shall use all due precautions to protect, and shall follow, stakes and 
working lines approved by the Building Commissioner. All work shall be carried on and 
material placed so as to offer the least possible obstruction to vehicular or pedestrian traffic. 
Barricades and red lights shall be maintained by the contractor for such period as may be 
required. 
      (13)   No water may be used from City mains by a private contractor unless permission 
shall be granted and provision made for the method of measurement and payment for water 
used. 
      (14)   Upon completion of any work, the area adjacent thereto shall be cleaned of all waste 
material, excavated dirt, etc., which the contractor shall remove to the nearest dump. 
      (15)   No truck washout and/or excess, left over, unusable concrete shall be washed into 
any private or public sewer system. 
 
1060.08  SPECIFICATIONS FOR ASPHALTIC INSTALLATIONS. 
   (a)   The base for all asphaltic installations shall be six inches in finished depth, and such 
base shall be of limestone ranging from two inches to one-half inch screen, and all loads 
delivered shall be of uniform mix without segregation of sizes. This material shall be evenly 
spread over the rolled subgrade, and thoroughly consolidated with a power roller of at least 
five tons weight. Voids shall be filled with fine screenings after the initial rolling and the 
surface sprayed with water during the final roller operation. The finished top of the base shall 
be uniform in surface and shall show no loose aggregates. 
   (b)   An alternate base may be made by using portland cement concrete four inches in depth. 
Such concrete shall be composed of one part cement, two and one-half parts sand and four 
parts limestone. Only enough water shall be used to provide workability of the mix and the 
material shall be hand-tamped in place on the rolled subgrade. A covering of burlap or heavy 
paper shall be left on for a period of at least six days before applying the two-inch asphalt 
surface. 
   (c)   When the base has thoroughly dried to the satisfaction of the Building Commissioner, 
the two-inch asphalt wearing surface may be laid. On the foundation, as heretofore required, 



ORDINANCE 2022-34 | Page 7 of 8 

there shall be laid the bituminous concrete wearing surface, which shall consist of a mineral 
aggregate mixed with bituminous cement and laid as hereinafter specified. This wearing 
surface shall have a thickness of two inches after thorough compression with a roller weighing 
at least five tons. 
   (d)   The mineral aggregate shall consist of a mixture of broken stone and sand to which in 
some cases may be added a small quantity of stone dust or portland cement. Any sound, durable 
stone such as trap rock, blue limestone, or granite, usually considered suitable for macadam 
surface, may be used. The stone must be broken as nearly cubical as practicable and shall not 
show distinct planes of cleavage or crystalline faces and shall not crush or split under the roller 
when being consolidated in the installation. For the wearing surface the stone shall vary in size 
from that passing a one and one-fourth inch screen to that held on a one-fourth inch screen. 
The dust or fine screenings shall be removed from the stone if excessive and irregular in 
quantity. The sand shall be similar in character to that commonly used in sheet asphalt 
mixtures. It shall be hardgrained and moderately sharp, free from loam or other foreign material 
and vary in size from that passing a one-fourth inch screen to dust passing a 200 mesh screen. 
There shall not be over 5% passing the 200 mesh screen and not over 30% on the ten mesh 
screen. The dust which may be added to the mixture shall be either portland cement or finely 
ground limestone. Not over 4% by weight shall be added to any bituminous concrete mixture 
and a screening of the combined aggregate should not be over 6% of 200 mesh material. 
   (e)   The proportions of the various ingredients composing the bituminous concrete shall be 
approximately three parts of stone to two parts of sand, to which shall then be added bituminous 
cement sufficient so that from 7% to 10% by weight of the mixture shall be bitumen soluble in 
carbon disulphide. 
   (f)   The mineral aggregate shall, before mixing with the bituminous cement, be dried and 
heated in driers of approved type in which the material does not come in contact with fire or 
flames. The driers shall be of the revolving type, agitating and turning the material during the 
process of drying. When the aggregate is thoroughly dried and heated to a temperature from 
250 degrees to 355 degrees Fahrenheit, depending upon the climatic conditions and the 
bituminous cement used, it shall be immediately, before being cooled or exposed to moisture, 
mixed in a box known as the "pug type" with the hot bituminous cement, as hereinafter 
specified. If stone dust is used, such material shall be introduced directly into the mixer without 
passing through the drier. 
   (g)   The asphaltic cement used as the binding material shall be prepared from refined oils 
having asphaltic base. The material shall be prepared with asphaltic petroleum oils, to produce 
the required consistency. The asphalt shall be homogeneous, free from water, and shall not 
foam when heated to 175 degrees Centigrade. Such asphalt shall meet the following 
requirements: 
      (1)   Specific gravity 25ºC., not less than    1.01 
      (2)   Flash point, not less than     175ºC. 
      (3)   Softening point    40º - 55ºC. 
      (4)   Penetration  25ºC. 100 gr. 5 sec.     80 - 90 
      (5)   Loss at 163ºC. 5 hours    1% maximum 
      (6)   Penetration residue, 25ºC. 100 gr. 5 sec. at least     55 
      (7)   Total bitumen, at least     99.5 
      (8)   Organic, insoluble    0.2 max. 
   The contractor must certify in writing to the Building Commissioner or his or her inspector, 
the character of the asphalt and the source of supply which he or she contemplates using, prior 
to beginning the work. 
   (h)   The mixture shall be spread by shoveling into place on the foundation and leveling with 
heated metal rakes so that when compressed by a self-propelled roller weighing at least five 
tons, it shall be two inches in thickness with surface even and true to grade. Along the curb 
and around manholes, meter boxes and other obstructions where the roller cannot reach, the 
compression shall be obtained by hot iron tampers. As soon as the temperature will permit, the 
mixture shall be rolled and the rolling continued lengthwise and diagonally until all roller 
marks have disappeared and the surface gives indication of no further compressibility. When 
a joint is necessary, the material shall be trimmed to a rough feather edge, painted with 
asphaltic cement, and the hot material then raked over the joint and thoroughly tamped and 
rolled. The process of laying must be continuous throughout each day's operation to avoid 
unnecessary joints or lack of cohesion between the different batches delivered and installed. 
   (i)   As soon as possible after the rolling of the mixture is finished and while the surface is 
still warm and clean a coat of pure asphalt cement, heated to a temperature of from 280 degrees 
to 320 degrees Fahrenheit shall be spread over the surface and evenly distributed with rubber 



ORDINANCE 2022-34 | Page 8 of 8 

squeegees or roofing mops. Only sufficient material shall be used to flush the surface voids 
without leaving an excess. Immediately over this cement application a top dressing of torpedo 
sand or fine gravel, free from dust, which must be thoroughly dried and heated shall be spread 
and rolled into the surface. A small excess of gravel may be left to be worn in or away by 
traffic. 
 
1060.09  RESPONSIBILITY OF CONTRACTOR. 
   (a)   In the construction of driveways and sidewalks the contractor shall avoid injury to trees, 
hedges, fences, flagstones and all other construction previously installed, and he or she shall 
employ such safeguards as may be ordered by the Building Commissioner or his or her 
inspector. The contractor shall also fill in the tree lawn at each side of the driveway with topsoil 
and shall seed the same. 
   (b)   No material shall be permitted on any street or sidewalk, nor shall any mixing be 
permitted on any street or sidewalk. No hand mixing shall be permitted on any kind of work 
on City property. 
   (c)   It shall be a duty of the contractor, under the Building Commissioner's direction, when 
repairing existing drives to notify all owners that work on their drive will start at a given time. 
If for any good reason the owner cannot have the work done on the day specified, it will be 
passed until later, but only for a reasonable time. 
 
1060.10  SIDEWALK PERMITS. 
   (a)   Any person desiring to lay or re-lay any sandstone flagging or concrete sidewalk, or to 
perform any other sidewalk work on public property in the City, shall first apply to the Building 
Commissioner for a permit, which shall be issued without cost. 
   (b)   All replacements of curb or sidewalk shall be of the same material, dimensions and 
quality as the original, except that the use of stone slabs less than three feet in length is 
prohibited in original or replacement work. The City may order any replacements removed 
which do not comply with such requirements. 
 
1060.99  PENALTY. 
   Whoever violates any provision of this chapter is guilty of a minor misdemeanor for the first 
offense and shall be fined not more than one hundred dollars ($150.00). For any subsequent 
offense, such person is guilty of a misdemeanor of  the first degree and shall be fined not more 
than one thousand dollars ($1,000.00) or imprisoned not more than one hundred eighty (180) 
days, or both, for each offense. Each day's continued violation shall constitute a separate 
offense. 
 
 
 
 
 
 


































































	2022-25 ORD AMENDED Establishing a Charter Review Commission
	Memo from D. Kennedy Alternate Tax Budget 2023
	2022-30 RES 2023 Alternative Tax Budget
	2022-30 RES 2023 Alternative Tax Budget Exhibit A
	2022-31 ORD Bio-Swale Ordinance to Amend 1060.02
	2022-32 ORD Peddlers-Solicitors - Chapter 812 showing markups
	2022-33 ORD Amend Chapter 1064 - Solid Waste Disposal
	2022-34 ORD Amend Chapter 1060



